IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NASSAU POWER CORPORATION,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 78,275
PSC DOCKET NO. 910004-EU

THOMAS M. BEARD, CHAIRMAN, ETC., ET AL.,

Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT, NASSAU POWER CORPORATION

Joseph A. McGlothlin Fla. Bar No. 163771

Vicki Gordon Kaufman Fla. Bar No. 286672

McWhirter, Grandoff and Reeves 522 E. Park Avenue, Suite 200 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 904/222-2525

Attorneys for Nassau Power Corporation

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following abbreviations are used in this brief. Appellant, Nassau Power Corporation, is referred to as Nassau Power. Appellee, Florida Public Service Commission, is referred to as the Commission. Florida Power and Light Company is referred to as FPL. Citations to the Appendix are designated (A.) and citations to the Record on Appeal are designated (R.).

The orders which are the subject of this appeal were issued as the result of an informal proceeding which constitutes a small subpart of a long continuum. The Commission's regulation of transactions between cogenerators and investor-owned utilities spans approximately ten years. To place the issue on appeal in context, Nassau Power has included a general "Background" section as the first portion of its Statement of the Case and of the Facts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

BACKGROUND

"Cogeneration" is the term used to describe the use of energy in sequential steps to both generate electricity and apply useful thermal energy to a commercial or industrial 16 U.S.C. § 796(18)(A). In cogeneration the natural energy resource being consumed performs two jobs instead of one. in the high efficiency achieved seen has cogeneration a conservation measure worthy of national policy. In 1978 Congress passed the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act ("PURPA"), Pub.L. No. 95-617, 92 Stat. 3117 (1978), in which sought to foster the development of cogeneration by establishing a mandatory wholesale market for cogenerated electrical power. PURPA requires electric utilities to purchase cogenerated power from cogenerators who qualify to participate the mandatory market by meeting threshold efficiency standards ("Qualifying Facilities" or "QFs") at prices based on the utilities' "avoided costs"--i.e., the costs which the utilities would incur to produce electricity if they did not instead purchase cogenerated power. 16 U.S.C. § 824a-3(b).

PURPA required the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC") to adopt implementing rules with which state regulatory agencies must comply. To comply with the FERC rules, the state agencies must in turn promulgate regulations governing the

relationship between QFs and utilities and regulating the transactions between them. 18 C.F.R. Part 292.

In Florida, the Florida Public Service Commission has the responsibility under PURPA to regulate transactions between utilities and cogenerators. It has done so through a combination of formal rules and implementation hearings leading to orders designed to carry out those rules.

The Commission's rules have been modified over time. In this brief, a distinction will be made between the rules which were in place during the period May 1990 - October 1990 and which therefore govern the orders which are the subject of this appeal (the "old rules") and the rules which took effect prospectively in October 1990 (the "new rules"). (Because the "old rules" remain operative as to certain contracts and transactions, they will frequently be referred to in the present tense.)

The "avoided costs" which form the basis of the utilities' payments to QFs include the cost of building a planned generating unit which can be deferred or rendered unnecessary through purchases of cogenerated power on a firm contractual basis. The "old rules" create a statewide market for cogenerated power. They require the Commission to designate a "statewide avoided unit," derived from a statewide assessment of the need for additional generating capacity, to serve as a basis for quantifying the amount of generating capacity which utilities are obligated to purchase from QFs at a given point in

time and the price they must pay to the cogenerators for that capacity.

The determination of the "statewide avoided prescribed by the "old rules" is performed during proceedings held to review the utilities' generation expansion plans. Such plans involve a projection of growth in demand for electricity over time and an analysis of the resources which should be added to meet the projected demand while maintaining standards of reliability. An assessment of the need for generating capacity performed on a statewide basis will naturally differ from an assessment limited to the needs and characteristics of individual utility service area. For example, it would be possible for a particular utility to have no need for additional generating capacity to meet its individual native requirements at a time when the state measured as a whole exhibits a need for more capacity.

While QFs and utilities may negotiate the terms of a contract between them under the rules, a consistent feature of the Commission's regulations over time has been a "standard offer contract." A "standard offer" is a contract consisting of preapproved terms and conditions which the Commission requires utilities under its jurisdiction to hold out to all QFs until the amount of generating capacity identified and reserved for the statewide avoided unit has been contractually committed by QFs ("subscribed"). When under the "old rules" the Commission designates a "statewide avoided unit," the parameters affecting

the cost to construct the unit (size, type, in-service date, etc.) are translated into a uniform "standard offer contract" which regulated utilities are required to offer to all QFs, regardless of their location, until the contracts received from QFs are sufficient in the aggregate to fully displace the designated statewide avoided unit. The process is then repeated based on new projections and a new measurement of statewide need. Over time, the Commission designated -- and QFs subscribed--a succession of statewide avoided units. This appeal involves associated with the last statewide avoided designated by the Commission prior to the effective date of amended rules which prescribe a markedly different approach.

Following rulemaking activities, the Commission ultimately adopted significant changes to the "old rules." The "new rules," which became effective on October 25, 1990, focus on the individual utilities' service areas. Under the "new rules," each utility submits for approval an "avoided unit" derived from its <u>individual</u> generation expansion plan and a correspondingly individualized (size, timing, price) standard offer. This approach <u>prospectively</u> supplanted the use of a statewide avoided unit and uniform statewide standard offers. However, it is uncontroverted that the "new rules" have no application to Nassau Power's standard offer contract or to the orders which are the subject of this appeal.

Years prior to the enactment of PURPA, the Florida Legislature passed the Florida Electrical Power Plant Siting Act, Section 403.501 et. seq., Florida Statutes. The purpose of this law is to minimize the adverse impacts of power plants on the environment. The Act requires an entity desiring to construct a steam-producing power plant larger than 74 megawatts (including cogeneration facilities which fall within the Act's purview) to obtain a determination by the Commission that a need exists for the proposed generating capacity.

The Commission has ruled in past determination of need cases that QF applicants for a determination of need satisfy the requirement that a need for the capacity of their contracts be demonstrated if they establish that their contracts subscribe the statewide avoided unit designated by the Commission as representing the need for capacity on a statewide basis. In December 1989 the Commission expressed dissatisfaction with that approach in Order No. 22341. (A. 45-76). The Commission indicated its intent to begin evaluating the need for QF capacity from the standpoint of the need of the purchasing utility. The observation concerning the Commission's future intent predated any rulemaking activities related to a change in the basis for determining the need for QF power.

Order No. 22341 was issued in a proceeding conducted for the purpose of designating the next statewide avoided units required by the "old rules." Order No. 22341 designated three sequential units for that purpose.

CASE HISTORY

On its own motion, the Commission reconsidered the statewide avoided units it had designated in Order No. 22341. Pursuant to the "old rules," and based on the evidentiary hearings conducted in Docket No. 890004-EU which led to the issuance of Order No. 22341, the Commission voted on May 25, 1990 to designate instead a 500 MW pulverized coal unit having an in-service date of 1996 as the new statewide avoided unit. The Commission directed utilities to file conforming tariffs based on the new statewide avoided unit by June 4, 1990. This vote was subsequently codified in Order No. 23234, issued on July 23, 1990. (A. 77-81; R. Vol. V, 908-912). Order No. 23234 required all utilities to honor the new standard offers until the 500 MW subscription limit was reached on a statewide basis. Order No. 23234, p. 3.

The utilities submitted contracts and tariffs based on the newly designated statewide avoided unit. They were reviewed and administratively approved as conforming to the Commission's decision by Commission Staff. On June 13, 1990, Nassau Power executed a Commission-approved standard offer contract with FPL. Nassau Power filed a Notice of First Execution and Demand for Subscription Status on June 15, 1990, (R. Vol. V, 877-897), in which it asserted that its contract subscribed the first 435 MW of the 500 MW statewide avoided unit.

In addition to designating a new statewide avoided unit on May 25, 1990, the Commission addressed how the subscription process associated with the unit would work. However, issues concerning how to assign priority to contracts signed against the 500 MW 1996 unit were segregated from the order in which the Commission designated the unit as the next statewide avoided Order No. 23235, Notice of Proposed Agency Action on unit. Subscription, in which the Commission proposed a subscription process, was issued on July 23, 1990.2 (R. Vol. V, 913-916). The order drew numerous motions for clarification, directed primarily to the order's discussion of which contracts should subscribe the 500 MW statewide unit. (R. Vol. V, 927-957). The Commission considered the motions at its September 11, 1990 Rather than ruling on the motions for Agenda Conference. clarification at the September 11 Agenda Conference, the

Order No. 23235 (R. Vol. V, 913-916) considered the following five issues related to the subscription process:

^{1.} How should standard offer contracts and negotiated contracts be prioritized to determine the current subscription level?

^{2.} How should utilities who are subject to Commission designated subscription amounts notify the Commission on the status of capacity signed up against the designated statewide avoided unit?

^{3.} What happens when a utility reaches its own subscription limit?

^{4.} Does the subscription limit prohibit any utility from negotiating, and the Commission from approving, a contract for the purchase of firm capacity and energy from a qualifying facility?

^{5.} Should a negotiated contract whose project has an in-service date which does not match the in-service date of the statewide avoided unit be counted toward that utility's subscription limit?

Commission directed the parties to file briefs on the issue of subscription priority. (R. Vol. XVI, Tr. 1-93). Briefs were filed by the parties on September 25, 1990. (R. Vol. VI, 1044-1058, 1063-1092, 1097-1178).

forwarded a Commission Staff recommendation to the Commission on the pending motions which was considered by the Commission on October 2, 1990. (R. Vol. XVI, Tr. 1-22). The Commission decided to hold an informal hearing on subscription priority and directed the parties to file additional briefs. (R. Vol. XVI, Tr. 1-22). Additional briefs were filed on October 9, 1991, (R. Vol. VI, 1182-1201; Vol. VII, 1202-1245), a notice of informal hearing was issued on October 15, 1991, (R. Vol. VII, 1246-1248), and a prehearing conference was held on October 19, 1991, (R. Vol. XVII, Tr. 1-98). prehearing conference, the issues to be addressed at the upcoming informal hearing were delineated. Issue No. 2 was:

What is the effect of queuing contacts for subscription limit purposes?

The informal hearing was held before the Commission on October 26, 1990 and November 1, 1990. (R. Vol. XVII, Tr. 1-114, 1-60). Parties presented oral argument to the Commission on the designated issues. At the conclusion of the informal hearing, the Commission announced its decision. That decision was subsequently embodied in Order No. 23792, issued on November 21, 1990 (A. 82-87; R. Vol. X, 1802-1807), which is on appeal here.

Order No. 23792 rules that Nassau Power's standard offer contract subscribes the first 435 MW of the 500 MW statewide avoided unit. However, Order No. 23792 also states that the effect of placing Nassau Power first in the subscription queue has no bearing on the question of the need for capacity; it simply establishes a contract price. The order states that the need for the contract capacity—notwithstanding the fact that the contract is derived from a Commission—designated statewide avoided unit—must be evaluated against the need of the individual purchasing utility during a subsequent determination of need proceeding. Nassau takes issue with this portion of Order No. 23792.

On December 6, 1990, Nassau Power filed a motion for reconsideration of Order No. 23792, directed to the portion of the order dealing with Issue 2, described above. (R. Vol. X, 1890-1905). FPL filed a response. (R. Vol. X, 1944-1958). Nassau Power's motion for reconsideration was denied by Commission Order No. 24672, issued on June 17, 1991. (A. 88-91; R. Vol. X, 1969-1972). Nassau Power filed a Notice of Appeal, directed to Order Nos. 23792 and 24672, on July 15, 1991. (R. Vol. X, 1973-1977).

ISSUE PRESENTED

WHERE GOVERNING RULES OF THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION REQUIRE THE COMMISSION TO QUANTIFY THE AMOUNT OF COGENERATED POWER WHICH UTILITIES MUST PURCHASE BY MEANS OF A STATEWIDE AVOIDED UNIT BASED ON A STATEWIDE ASSESSMENT OF THE NEED FOR CAPACITY; WHERE THOSE RULES ESTABLISH A STATEWIDE WHOLESALE MARKET FOR COGENERATED POWER; WHERE THE RULES RECOGNIZE THE POSSIBILITY THAT THIS SYSTEM MAY REQUIRE A UTILITY TO PURCHASE POWER IT DOES NOT INDIVIDUALLY NEED; DID THE COMMISSION ERR IN STATING THAT A OF SIGNING **OFFER** APPROVED **STANDARD** CONTRACT SUBSCRIBING THE STATEWIDE AVOIDED DESIGNATED PURSUANT TO THE "OLD RULES" WOULD "DETERMINATION OF BE REQUIRED IN RELATED **PROCEEDINGS** NEED" UNDER THE FLORIDA ELECTRICAL POWER PLANT SITING ACT TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE QF'S CAPACITY IS NEEDED BY THE INDIVIDUAL PURCHASING UTILITY?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The rules of the Florida Public Service Commission which are applicable to the orders on appeal require the Commission to quantify the amount of generating capacity which regulated utilities must purchase from cogenerators on the basis of a statewide avoided unit. Obviously, embodied in the requirement that utilities purchase this amount of capacity from cogenerators is the determination that the capacity is needed within the state. The rules create a statewide market under which any cogenerator, regardless of location, may invoke the Commission-prescribed "standard offer contract" that associated with the statewide avoided unit of any of the utilities which are required to extend it. The rules explicitly contemplate the possibility that the statewide market which they

create could possibly require an individual utility to purchase standard offer capacity it doesn't need for its own requirements, but consciously subordinate that consideration to the policy objective of encouraging the development of cogeneration by means of the statewide market. These statewide features of the rules have been acknowledged by the Commission in numerous orders, including Order No. 23792, the order in which the Commission ruled that Nassau Power's standard offer contract subscribes 435 MW of the most recently designated statewide avoided unit.

However, in that order the Commission also stated that Nassau Power's contracted capacity would have to be evaluated from the standpoint of need of the purchasing utility in related "determination of need" proceedings under the Florida Electrical Power Plant Siting Act. This statement creates within Order No. 23792 a fundamental conflict. It is impossible for the Commission to require that all utilities honor standard offer contracts until the subscription limit associated with the statewide avoided unit is met on a statewide basis, on the one hand, and simultaneously conclude that the cogenerators deemed by the Commission to subscribe the statewide avoided unit must demonstrate that the purchasing utility individually needs their capacity on the other.

The conflict must be reconciled by reference to the principle that an agency's actions must be consistent with its substantive rules. The attempt to denigrate the efficacy of

uniform, statewide standard offer contracts plainly contradicts the Commission's governing rules. In fact, this aspect of Order No. 23792 would effectively render meaningless the statewide market which those rules carefully construct. In Order No. 23792 the Commission unlawfully attempted to anticipate future rulemaking and to alter the substantive policy requirements of Its attempt is not supported by the its applicable rules. matters on which it attempts to rely. Like Order No. 23792, prior Order No. 22341, also could not constitute rulemaking. The provisions of the Florida Electrical Power Plant Siting Act, do not require the result sought by the Commission; in fact, by specifically authorizing the Commission to utilize the device of a statewide avoided unit, the Florida Legislature implicitly approved the application of a statewide approach to the need for QF capacity. Ultimately, the Commission amended its rules to focus on individual utility requirements, but the "new rules" are not applicable here.

The Court should rule that the governing Commission rules mandate a statewide approach to need that is incorporated within the statewide avoided unit designated pursuant to the rules and the standard offer contracts which subscribe the unit. This determination will allow Nassau Power, which relied upon the mechanism of the rules, to proceed through the requirements of the Florida Electrical Power Plant Siting Act without the prejudice associated with a narrow, restrictive standard of need

that is foreign to the rules and proceedings from which its standard offer contract was derived.

ARGUMENT

THE COMMISSION'S RULING IN ORDER NOS. 23792 AND 24672 THAT QFS HOLDING STANDARD OFFER CONTRACTS WHICH SUBSCRIBE A STATEWIDE AVOIDED UNIT UNDER THE "OLD RULES" MUST SUBSEQUENTLY DEMONSTRATE THAT THE PURCHASING UTILITY INDIVIDUALLY REQUIRES THE CAPACITY IS UNLAWFULLY INCONSISTENT WITH THE COMMISSION'S APPLICABLE RULES.

A. Standard of Review.

This Court's review of the two Commission orders on appeal is governed by section 120.68, Florida Statutes (1990). Section 120.68(12)(b) addresses agency orders which are inconsistent with applicable agency rules. It provides:

(12) The court shall remand the case to the agency if it finds the agency's exercise of discretion to be:

(b) Inconsistent with an agency rule.

A review of the record in this case demonstrates that the Commission's orders which require Nassau Power's cogeneration project to be evaluated against an individual utility need, rather than a statewide need, is inconsistent with the applicable Commission rules.³ If an agency's action is

This is <u>not</u> a case where new administrative rules have become applicable to Nassau Power's project. As pointed out by the Commission in Order No. 24672 at 1, Nassau Power's project was designated as being within the 500 MW subscription limit designated by the Commission pursuant to the cogeneration rules in effect before October 25, 1990. These rules are the rules that are "operative and binding" on Nassau Power. <u>Hulmes v. Division of Retirement</u>, Department of Administration, 418 So.2d 269, 270 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982).

inconsistent with its rules, the Court must remand the case to the agency. <u>Decarion v. Martinez</u>, 537 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). Further, Section 120.68(13)(a)1 gives this Court the authority to set aside the Commission's action and decide the rights of the parties.

B. The Commission May Not Act In a Manner Contrary to Its Own Rules.

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