#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NASSAU POWER CORPORATION,	<b>)</b>
Appellant, v.	) ) CASE NO. 78,275 ) PSC DOCKET NO. 910004-EU
THOMAS M. BEARD, CHAIRMAN, ETC., ET AL.,	
Appellees.	
	) )

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE, FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

ROBERT D. VANDIVER General Counsel Florida Bar No. 344052

MARSHA E. RULE Associate General Counsel Florida Bar No. 302066

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 101 East Gaines Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0862 (904) 488-7464

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In certain past Siting Act proceedings the Commission has presumed the need for, and cost-effectiveness of, individual QF power plants based upon findings previously made in Planning Hearings conducted pursuant to its cogeneration rules. The Commission has not erred in declining to continue this practice.

Nassau Power contends that the cogeneration rules preclude the Commission from changing its previous policy regarding evaluation of QF power plants in Siting Act need determination proceedings. Nassau is wrong. The Commission's cogeneration rules do not preclude the Commission from evaluating a QF power plant against the need of a utility in a Siting Act proceeding. In fact, the cogeneration rules make no mention of the Siting Act and there is absolutely no nexus between the cogeneration rules and the Act.

The Commission has determined that the statutory criteria for evaluation of the need for power plants are utility specific. This determination was made after a full hearing and was based on competent, substantial evidence. Nassau Power did not contest this determination, and in fact, executed its standard offer contract after the Commission's ruling was firmly in place.

Florida's courts have ruled, and the Commission recognizes, that rulemaking is the preferred method for implementing agency policy. Here, the Commission implemented rulemaking in 1989. As a result, the Commission's new cogeneration rules became effective October 25, 1990. In addition, the Commission modified its nonrule policy based upon substantial and competent record evidence, in

full compliance with the requirements of the Administrative Procedure Act. The Commission's modification of its policy, first announced in Order No. 22341 on December 26, 1989, does not conflict with the Commission's old or new cogeneration rules.

Nassau has shown no error, reversible or otherwise. The orders of the Commission should be affirmed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.

### THE COMMISSION'S ACTION WAS CONSISTENT WITH ITS RULES.

Nassau Power's entire argument is based on an alleged conflict between the Commission's rules and the policies expressed in its orders. No such conflict exists. Nassau Power attempts to extrapolate from the Commission's cogeneration rules an ultimate determination of need for cogenerated power. Specifically, Nassau Power concludes that because the Commission sets standard offer energy and capacity prices on a statewide basis, it must presume need for a particular QF power plant in a proceeding held pursuant to the Florida Electrical Power Plant Siting Act. Nassau's reasoning is not only convoluted, but wrong as a matter of law.

A. THERE IS NO NEXUS BETWEEN THE SITING ACT AND THE COMMISSION'S RULES WHICH COMPELS THE COMMISSION TO RUBBER STAMP QF NEED DETERMINATION APPLICATIONS.

Rule 25-17.083(4), Florida Administrative Code, requires the Commission to choose a statewide avoided unit "for the purpose of determining the need for, timing, and pricing of firm energy and capacity purchases from qualifying facilities in connection with [Planning Hearing] proceedings". However, Nassau incorrectly

This rule was repealed on October 25, 1990. Nassau refers to this and other cogeneration rules in effect at the time periods relevant to this appeal as the "old" rules. References herein to the cogeneration rules are to the "old" rules. The Commission has

extracts from the development of a statewide price for cogenerated power an exemption from the statutory requirements of the Siting Act. Nassau argues that because the Commission holds a hearing in which it reviews generation planning and sets the terms of a statewide standard offer contract, it is inconsistent for the Commission to determine need in a Siting Act proceeding based on the need of the utility purchasing the QF's power. The rules do not support Nassau's argument.

The Commission first promulgated rules regarding utility obligations to cogenerators and small power producers in 1981. The rules were amended and expanded in 1983. The Planning Hearing was instituted in order to implement the cogeneration rules. Its main purpose was to determine cogeneration prices. (Testimony of Mr. Ballinger, Tr. 551, Vol. V). The statutory authority cited in the rules themselves show that they were never intended to implement the Siting Act.<sup>8</sup>

not applied the "new" cogeneration rules to Nassau Power's standard offer contract with Florida Power & Light Company and agrees that they are not applicable herein. However, the policy embodied in the new cogeneration rules regarding the effect of a Planning Hearing determination of statewide need on Siting Act proceedings was firmly and properly in place at the time Nassau Power signed its standard offer contract. Therefore, such policy may be applied to Nassau Power's standard offer contract.

The rules recite that they were promulgated pursuant to the specific authority of sections 366.05(9) and 350.127(2), Florida Statutes, in order to implement section 366.05(9), Florida Statutes. At that time, section 366.05(9) allowed, but did not require, the commission to "establish guidelines" for purchases of cogenerated power and "set the rates" for public utility purchases of cogenerated power. However, the rules were also intended to fulfil the duty imposed on state regulatory agencies by the Public Utilities Regulatory Policies Act ("PURPA"), Pub. L. No. 95-617, 92

The Siting Act regulates the "selection and utilization of sites" for power plants, based on the legislative policy that the location and operation of power plants should produce minimal impact on the state's human, animal and ecological population. (Section 403.502, Fla. Stat. (1989)). The act does not direct the Commission in its broader duties described in Chapter 366, Florida Statutes (1989).

Electrical generating facilities of 75 MW or greater, including cogeneration plants, must apply for site certification pursuant to the Act. The Commission's role in the site certification process is limited to the preparation of a report of the "need for the electrical generating capacity to be supplied by the proposed electrical power plant". (Section 403.507(2)(a)2, Fla. Stat. (1989)). The report is more fully described in Section 403.519, Florida Statutes. The Act does not provide an opportunity for the Commission to engage in generation planning or cogeneration development. In fact, there is no nexus between the Siting Act and cogeneration rules. The use of Planning Hearing findings is simply not envisioned in the context of the Siting Act.

In 1980, the Commission promulgated rules to implement the Siting Act. (Fla. Admin. Code Rules 25-22.080 and 25-22.081). The Siting Act rules neither reference nor allude to any Planning Hearing determination of statewide need, but rather, require applicants to describe "the specific conditions, contingencies or

Stat. 3117 (1978) to regulate purchases and sales of electricity between QFs and utilities.

other factors which indicate a need for the proposed plant . . . ."

The rule requires documentation of the need for the power which will be generated by the applicant. The applicant must provide the following information:

historical and forecasted summer and winter peaks, number of customers, net energy for load, and load factors with a discussion of the more critical operating conditions.

(Fla. Admin. Code Rule 25-22.081(3)). This documentation allows the Commission to determine whether a particular plant is needed, as opposed to whether there is a generalized need for increased power production within the state. The rules further require applicants to discuss both generating and nongenerating alternatives to the plant, including many specific considerations which make no sense unless they refer to the alternatives of the utility purchasing the QF power. 9

The Commission clearly acted consistently with its Siting Act rules and with its statutory duties in determining that it would not "rubber stamp" Siting Act need determinations for QFs.

B. THE COMMISSION IS NOT BOUND BY ITS PREVIOUS EXERCISE OF DISCRETION IN PRESUMING NEED IN INDIVIDUAL SITING ACT PROCEEDINGS BASED ON FINDINGS MADE IN THE PLANNING HEARING.

The Commission promulgated unrelated rules for Planning

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>For example, generating alternatives which must be discussed include purchases, and nongenerating alternatives include reduction in growth rates of demand and consumption. Inclusion of these factors assumes that the Commission intends to examine cost-effectiveness from the purchasing utility's point of view. The factors simply do not apply to QFs.

Hearing determinations of statewide need and for Siting Act need Later, however, the Commission made a policy determinations. decision to rely on Planning Hearing findings of statewide need when examining QF need determination applications in Siting Act proceedings. That is, the Commission was willing to presume that "as long as the negotiated contract price was less than that of the standard offer and fell within the current MW subscription limit" been determined. 10 and cost-effectiveness had already Therefore, when conducting Siting Act proceedings for QFs, the Commission did not require applicants to prove either that there was a need for their projects or that the projects were the most cost-effective alternative available. (Order No. 22341 at 26, R. In effect, the Commission elected to substitute Planning 655). Hearing findings for some of the findings required by the Siting Act when dealing with OF need determinations. This policy determination, which was within the Commission's authority and expertise, was developed and applied in the context of both the Planning Hearing and Siting Act need determination proceedings, without challenge. 11 Later, the Commission took notice of the changing cogeneration market within the state. in which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Presumably, a standard offer contract would have been entitled to the same presumption.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>The policy applied only to Siting Act need determination proceedings for QFs. In Siting Act proceedings to determine need for electric utility power plants the Planning Hearing findings were used for informational purposes only. <u>See</u> Order No. 22341 at 27 (R. 656).

cogenerators were increasing in both number and size, 12 and properly elected to examine alternatives to this treatment. Upon reflection, the Commission announced that it would no longer simply presume that a particular QF power plant was needed for Siting Act purposes. Rather, the Commission decided that the proper treatment of Planning Hearing findings was for informational purposes only:

[W]e take the position that to the extent that a proposed electric power plant constructed as a QF is selling its capacity to an electric utility pursuant to a standard offer or negotiated contract, that capacity is meeting the needs of the purchasing utility. As such, that capacity must be evaluated from the purchasing utility's perspective in the [Siting Act] need determination proceeding, i.e., a finding must be made that the proposed capacity is the most cost-effective means of meeting purchasing utility X's capacity needs in lieu of other demand and supply side alternatives.

(Order No. 22341 at 26, R. 655).

# C. THE COMMISSION PROPERLY ADOPTED ITS CURRENT POLICY IN ORDER NO. 22341.

The Commission developed its current policy consistent with concepts of administrative law. Administrative agencies are constrained in their development of policy by the requirements of the Administrative Procedure Act, Chapter 120, Florida Statutes, (the "APA"). While the APA clearly indicated a preference for policy development through rulemaking, it did not, during the applicable time period, require an agency to institute rulemaking procedures each time a new policy was developed. McDonald v.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Testimony of Mr. Ballinger, Tr. 579 (Vol. V), 607 (Vol. VI).

1000 Police

Department of Banking and Finance, 346 So.2d 458 (Fla. 1963).

The policy of not "rubber stamping" QF Siting Act need determination applications was properly developed in a proceeding with adequate record support for its actions as required by the APA. McDonald, supra. The administrative record shows that the issues were carefully identified before the hearing 13 and supported by testimony which was subject to cross-examination. 14 resulting order clearly explained the reasons for the Commission's actions. (Order No. 22341 at 25-27, R. 654-656). Commission took every step necessary to interpret its rules and develop its new policy in a responsible fashion. Indeed, it is difficult to see how the Commission could have proceeded in a more responsible fashion: after considering the evidence adduced in a hearing held pursuant to Section 120.57, Florida Statutes, it announced its policy in December, 1989, and proceeded to rulemaking. New cogeneration rules which embody the policy were in effect by October, 1990.

Nassau signed its standard offer contract at a time when the policy was firmly in place and recorded in an agency order. Nassau now attempts to appeal a valid policy decision made within the Commission's exclusive jurisdiction and of which it had notice. Nassau has failed to offer any cogent argument against the policy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Order No. 20845 at 49-51, R. 296-298.

 $<sup>^{14}</sup>$ Testimony of Mr. Ballinger, Tr. 549-615, Vol. V and VI.

II.

THE COMMISSION IS BOUND BY STATUTE TO DETERMINE THE NEED FOR QF POWER PLANTS ON THE BASIS OF THE UTILITY PURCHASING THE POWER.

The Siting Act requires a determination of need for all power plants on an individual basis. There is no longer a reason for exempting QFs from the terms of the Siting Act.

# A. THE SITING ACT REQUIRES THE COMMISSION TO MAKE FINDINGS WHICH ARE UTILITY AND UNIT SPECIFIC.

Section 403.519, Florida Statutes (1989) provides that the Commission is the exclusive forum to determine the need for an electrical power plant subject to the Siting Act. The statute further provides that in making its determination of need the Commission shall take into account (1) the need for electric system reliability and integrity; (2) the need for adequate electricity at a reasonable cost; (3) whether the proposed plant is the most cost-effective alternative available and (4) the conservation measures taken by or reasonably available to the applicant which might mitigate the need for the proposed plant. The Commission is also directed to consider such other matters within its jurisdiction as it deems relevant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Significantly, Nassau continues to claim that its priority as first in the subscription queue entitles it to 435 MW of the total 500 MW subscription limit. However, the subscription queuing and limitation policies were developed in the same fashion, in the same docket, and are contained in the same orders which Nassau appeals. If one such policy is infirm and subject to remand, so are the others.

In Order No. 22341, the Commission examined these four criteria and determined that "[c]learly, the criteria are utility and unit specific", and further that the "need" which to which Section 403.519 refers is the need of the electric utility purchasing cogenerated power. (Order No. 22341 at 26, R. 655). In so finding the Commission held that a standard offer contract must be evaluated from the purchasing utility's perspective in a Siting Act need determination proceeding. That is, in terms of the second and third Siting Act criteria which the Commission must consider, cogenerated power must be shown to be the "most cost-effective means of meeting purchasing utility X's capacity needs in lieu of other demand and supply side alternatives." (Order No. 22341 at 26, R. 655).

In interpreting the statute to require a determination of the need of the purchasing utility, the Commission recognized not only the plain language of the statute, but the reality of the cogeneration market. Cogenerators do not provide service to the public. P.W. Ventures Inc. v. Nichols, 533 So.2d 281 (Fla. 1988). They sell power only to electric utilities. The purchasing utility would, to the extent that it needs the cogenerated power, distribute the power to its ratepayers. Only if the power was not needed would it be sold to other utilities. In finding that, for Siting Act purposes, cogenerated power meets the need of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>The resale to a second utility presents another problem which is avoided by the Commission's interpretation of the statute: the mismatch of a generic avoided cost with each utility's actual avoided cost.

purchasing utility, the Commission acknowledged a logistical problem: while there may be a need for increased generation in the state, the particular QF plant proposed may not be the best way to meet that need.

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